
 
 

 
 

 
TOWN OF BRUNSWICK, MAINE 

 

INCORPORATED 1739 
 

DEPARTMENT OF PLANNING AND DEVELOPMENT 
85 UNION STREET, SUITE 216 

BRUNSWICK, ME  04011 
 

 
 

ANNA M. BREINICH, FAICP PHONE: 207-725-6660 
DIRECTOR OF PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT FAX: 207-725-6663 

 

 

 
VILLAGE REVIEW BOARD 

AGENDA  
COUNCIL CHAMBERS, 85 UNION STREET 
THURSDAY, FEBRUARY 17, 2015, 7:15 P.M. 

 
 
 

1. Case # VRB 15-005 – 63 Federal Street  – The Board will review and take action regarding 
a Certificate of Appropriateness to make renovations to Bowdoin College’s Stowe House for 
college offices and storage space, located at 63 Federal Street (Map U08, Lot 84). 
 

2. CONSULTATION - Case # VRB 15-006 – 5-9 Abbey Road – The Board will discuss and 
offer comment to the applicant regarding the design of a new commercial structure on the 
existing foundation onsite, to include parking, storage, workspace and a greenhouse for Tao 
Yuan restaurant; located at 5-9 Abbey Road (Map U13, Lot 95). 

 
3. Other Business 

 
4. Staff Approvals:  

  96 Maine St - Signage 
 

5. Approval of Minutes 
 
 
 
 
 

This agenda is being mailed to all abutters within 200 feet of the above referenced locations for Certificate of 
Appropriateness requests and serves as public notice for said meeting. 

 
 

Village Review Board meetings are open to the public. Please call the Brunswick Department of Planning and 
Development (725-6660) with questions or comments.  This meeting is televised. 









 1

Draft Findings of Fact 
63 Federal Street  

Request for Certificate of Appropriateness for Partial Demolition and Renovation 
Village Review Board  

Review Date:  February 17, 2015 
 
Project Name: Stowe House Renovation 
 
Case Number: VRB -15-005 
 
Tax Map:  Map U8, Lot 84 
 
Applicant/Owner: Bowdoin College 
   5600 College Station 
   Brunswick, ME  04011 
   207-725-3242 
 
Authorized Representative: Don Borkowski 
    Director of Capital Projects 
    Bowdoin College 
    3800 College Station 
    Brunswick, ME  04011 
    207-725-3947 
 
PROJECT SUMMARY 
 
The applicant is requesting a Certificate of Appropriateness to renovate the Harriet Beecher 
Stowe House and barn through exterior rehabilitation, demolition of a later-built portion of the 
former restaurant structure (barn) to detach it from the Stowe House and landscaping 
improvements at 63 Federal Street.  The renovated structures will be used for college offices and 
indoor storage.  Photos of existing conditions, replacement design and materials are attached.   
 
The property is located in the College Use 4 (CU4) Zoning District and Village Review Overlay 
Zone. The Stowe House is on the National Register of Historic Places and located within the 
federally-designated Federal Street Historic District. 
 
The following draft Findings of Fact for a Certificate of Appropriateness is based upon review 
standards as stated in Section 216.9 of the Brunswick Zoning Ordinance.   
 
216.9 Review Standards  
 
A. General Standard. 

 
1.   All Certificates of Appropriateness for new construction, additions, alterations, 

relocations or demolition shall be in accordance with applicable requirements of 
this Ordinance.  In meeting the standards of this Ordinance the applicant may 



 2

obtain additional guidance from the U.S. Secretary of Interior's Standards for 
Rehabilitating Historic Buildings and the Village Review Zone Design 
Guidelines.  Per the attached project description, photos and elevations, the 
proposed renovations to the Harriet Beecher Stowe House, including the demolition 
of the 1940-50’s connecting ell to the barn/restaurant, will restore historic 
architectural elements of the property, including the restoration of the former side 
porch.  The original house will be disconnected from the newer barn and “motel” 
building, now used as student housing.  The applicant has been in consultation with 
the State Historic Preservation Officer and will also be consulting with the Pejepscot 
Historical Society prior to the Board’s review of this request.  The proposed 
rehabilitation work is consistent with historic photos of the property.  Windows will 
be restored, not replaced.  Siding will be replaced with like clapboard siding.  All 
proposed work appears to be consistent with the Village Review Zone Design 
Guidelines and U.S. Secretary of Interior Standards/Guidelines.  
 

B. New Construction, Additions and Alterations to Existing Structures.  
1. In approving applications for a Certificate of Appropriateness for new 

construction, additions or alterations to contributing resources, the reviewing 
entity shall make findings that the following standards have been satisfied: 
a. Any additions or alterations shall be designed in a manner to minimize the 

overall effect on the historic integrity of the contributing resource.   The 
proposed renovations, including the demolition of the more recently built 
connecting ell structure and the reconstruction of the original side porch based on 
historic photos and recently found foundation work, will enhance the historic 
integrity of this contributing resource.   

b. Alterations shall remain visually compatible with the existing streetscape.  No 
changes are proposed to the existing streetscape. 

c. Concealing of distinctive historic or architectural character-defining features 
is prohibited.  If needed, the applicant may replace any significant features 
with in-kind replacement and/or accurate reproductions.  None proposed.     

d. New construction or additions shall be visually compatible with existing mass, 
scale and materials of the surrounding contributing resources.  As stated 
previously and indicated in the application, the open side porch will be 
reconstructed per historic photos and the original foundation.   

e. When constructing additions, the applicant shall maintain the structural 
integrity of existing structures.  The applicant will be required to submit 
construction drawings for review and approval by Codes staff in order to obtain a 
building permit. 

f. For new construction of or additions to commercial, multi-family and other 
non-residential uses the following additional standards shall apply: 
1) Parking lots shall be prohibited in side and front yards, except if the 

application involves the renovation of existing structures where such a 
configuration currently exists.  In cases where such parking configurations 
exist, the parking area shall be screened from the public right-of-way with 
landscaping or fencing.  No change in existing parking configuration 
proposed. 



 3

2) Site plans shall identify pedestrian ways and connections from parking 
areas to public rights-of-way.  Not applicable. 

3) All dumpsters and mechanical equipment shall be located no less than 25 
feet away from a public right-of-way and shall be screened from public 
view.  Not applicable. 

4) Roof-top-mounted heating, ventilation, air conditioning and energy 
producing equipment shall be screened from the view of any public right-
of-way or incorporated into the structural design to the extent that either 
method does not impede functionality.  Parapets, projecting cornices, 
awnings or decorative roof hangs are encouraged.  Flat roofs without 
cornices are prohibited.  Not applicable. 

5) Building Materials: 
a) The use of cinder-block, concrete and concrete block is prohibited on 

any portion of a structure that is visible from the building's exterior, 
with the exception of use in the building's foundation.  None proposed. 

b) The use of vinyl, aluminum or other non-wood siding is permitted as 
illustrated in the Village Review Board Design Guidelines.  Asphalt 
and asbestos siding are prohibited.  None proposed. 

c) Buildings with advertising icon images built into their design 
("trademark buildings") are prohibited.  Not applicable. 

6) No building on Maine Street shall have a horizontal expanse of more than 
40 feet without a pedestrian entry.  Not applicable. 

7) No building on Maine Street shall have more than 15 feet horizontally of 
windowless wall.  Not applicable. 

8) All new buildings and additions on Maine Street: 
a) Must be built to the front property line. This may be waived if at least 

60% of the building's front facade is on the property line, and the area 
in front of the setback is developed as a pedestrian space. 

b) If adding more than 50% new floor area to a structure, the addition 
shall be at least two stories high and not less than 20 feet tall at the 
front property line. 

c) The first floor facade of any portion of a building that is visible from 
Maine Street shall include a minimum of 50% glass.  Upper floors shall 
have a higher percentage of solid wall, between 15% and 40% glass.  
Subsections a., b. and c. above are not applicable. 

9) Proposed additions or alterations to noncontributing resources shall be 
designed to enhance or improve the structure’s compatibility with nearby 
contributing resources as compared to the existing noncontributing 
resources.  Not applicable. 

  
C.  Signs 

Signs shall comply with the requirements of Chapter 6 (Sign Regulations) with 
consideration given to the Village Review Zone Design Guidelines.  Sign permit will be 
approved at the staff level. 

 
 



 4

Draft Motions 
63 Federal Street 

Request for Certificate of Appropriateness for Partial Demolition and Renovation 
Village Review Board 

Review Date:  February 17, 2015 
 
Motion 1: That the Certificate of Appropriateness application is deemed complete.  
 
Motion 2: That the Board approves the Certificate of Appropriateness for the demolition of a 

connecting ell structure between the Stowe House and barn, and renovations as 
described in the application at 63 Federal Street with the following condition: 

 
1. That the Board’s review and approval does hereby refer to these findings of 

fact, the plans and materials submitted by the applicant and the written and 
oral comments of the applicant, his representatives, reviewing officials, and 
members of the public as reflected in the public record.  Any changes to the 
approved plan not called for in these conditions of approval or otherwise 
approved by the Director of Planning and Development as a minor 
modification, shall require further review and approval in accordance with the 
Brunswick Zoning Ordinance.  

 





























81

FFE 83.1+

RESET EXISTING BRICK PAVEMENT

IN NEW ALIGNMENT (270sf)

NEW FLUSH CURBING AT BRICK EDGE

REPAIR & REBUILD EXISTING

HISTORIC SPINDLE FENCE

AS NEEDED

REPAIR & REBUILD

EXISTING HISTORIC

SPINDLE FENCE AS

NEEDED

PRUNE EXISTING EVERGREENS, TYP

REMOVE EX FIELDSTONE WALL,

STOCKPILE FOR FUTURE USE,

REGRADE LEVEL FOR LAWN, TYP.

REMOVE EX FIELDSTONE WALL,

STOCKPILE FOR FUTURE USE,

REGRADE LEVEL FOR PLANTING, TYP.

REMOVE EX

FIELDSTONE

WALL, STOCKPILE

FOR FUTURE USE,

REGRADE LEVEL

FOR PLANTING

GRANITE THRESHOLD

SLAB AND POST

4.2%

X 80.8

81

82

83

NEW ASPHALT CURB

EXISTING ASPHALT CURB TO REMAIN

EXISTING ASPHALT CURB TO REMAIN

81

GRANITE BENCH, BY OWNER, TYP

3

8

" PAINTED BLACK STEEL EDGE

REMOVE EX FIELDSTONE WALL,

STOCKPILE FOR FUTURE USE,

REGRADE LEVEL FOR PLANTING, TYP.

+81.2

+81.2

CONCRETE PAD

SAWCUT EXISTING ASPHALT PAVEMENT

EXISTING BICYCLE PARKING TO REMAIN

RESET EXISTING BICYCLE PARKING

ON STABILIZED STONE DUST

6"X6" GRANITE POST, 42" TALL

BOLLARD "RUSTY SLOT 80,

IRON RUSTED", TYP.

TO BE SUPPLIED BY OWNER

18" DRIP EDGE, 

3

4

" CRUSHED LOCAL

QUARRY STONE, UNIFORM COLOR,

WITH 

1

4

" STEEL EDGE PAINTED BLACK

5
'
-
0

"

L0.0





tmorrison
Rectangle















































Draft 2 

1 
 

VILLAGE REVIEW BOARD 
JULY 15, 2014 

 
MEMBERS PRESENT:  Chair Emily Swan, Connie Lundquist, Gary Massanek and 
Karen Topp 
 
STAFF PRESENT:  Anna Breinich  
 
A meeting of the Village Review Board was held on Tuesday, July 15, 2014 at the 
Municipal Meeting Facility at 85 Union Street, Council Chambers. Chair Emily Swan 
called the meeting to order at 7:15 P.M. 
 
1. Case # VRB 14-018 – 32 School Street – The Board will review and take action 
regarding a Certificate of Appropriateness for the removal and replacement of building 
siding and roofing materials located at 32 School Street (Map U08, Lot 29). 
 
Anna Breinich introduced the application and said that the new owners of 32 School 
Street come before the Board as part of an emergency COA that was issued by the Codes 
Enforcement Officer on 6/13/14 which allowed the owners to begin repairs to the 
building immediately in an effort to minimize further damage caused by leaky walls and 
roofing.  Anna said that the emergency waiving of the COA still requires that the 
applicant go through the normal COA process.  Anna said that the renovation include 
removal and replacement of siding on the main structure, clapboard repair (carriage 
house), removal and replacement of roofing materials, replacement of existing front 
entryway, replacement of back door and steps and window replacements.  Anna said that 
in taking a look at everything that was being done to the main structure, they are 
following the Design Guidelines. 
 
In terms of the garage, Anna Breinich said that it is fairly dilapidated as seen in the 
photographs. The owner has decided to build a new garage in its footprint that would be 
stick built, wood clapboard siding, of white color, green roof and as presented with one 
double wide overhead door which the Design Guidelines say to avoid.  Anna has 
included in the conditions that the doublewide overhead door be avoided and two single 
overhead doors be used.   
 
The applicant, Michael Sanders said that when he and his wife recently purchased this 
house, it was basically falling into the street and he and Amy Russell would like to bring 
it back to where it was. 
 
Connie asked if the applicant has thought of any other protection from the weather aside 
from using storm doors.  Michael Sanders replied that the challenge is to save the front 
wood doors behind the storm door while still being able to showcase them.  Michael said 
that the contractor will be repairing them as best he can, but that they need a barrier.  
Connie asked if the storm doors will be staying on all year and Michael replied that he 
had not considered that, but it is an easy solution to remove them each spring. 
 



Draft 2 

2 
 

Emily Swan asked why the applicant chose vinyl over wood or wood-like siding.  
Michael Sanders replied that it came down to the question of how often do you want to 
paint your house.  Michael said that they did look at the condition of the clapboard and 
were considering clapboard but that this house is being renovated at a significant 
expense.  Michael said that this was one expense that they felt they could compromise in 
while still maintaining the character.  Emily asked about the trim and Michael replied that 
it will be all wood.  Emily asked if the Marvin windows being put in are wood on the 
inside and metal on the outside. Michael replied that it is aluminum on the outside, 
painted black.   
 
Connie Lundquist asked if they will be replacing the garage door and Michael Sanders 
replied that in stage 2 they plan to get rid of one of the bays and remodeling it to make a 
real entrance to an apartment to the left of a single garage door.  Michael said that the 
garage roof will have a pitched roof in keeping in sync with the house.     
 
Chair Emily Swan opened the meeting to public comment. 
 
Phil Dionne, resident of 91 Merrymeeting Road and owner of adjacent property at 31-
33 School Street, asked if the emergency COA was new.  Anna Breinich replied that an 
emergency COA was not new and has been in the ordinance since the beginning.  Phil 
replied that he missed/was not made aware of this and feel as though he was misled a few 
years ago when the former occupant of the home needed a ramp installed; approval took 
almost 9 weeks.  Phil said that it is well known in Brunswick that it is easier to beg for 
forgiveness then to go along with the process and thinks that the process needs to be 
tightened.  Phil said that he is very surprised that the applicant was granted an emergency 
COA for the siding and roofing.   
 
Chair Emily Swan closed the meeting to public comment. 
 
MOTION BY CONNIE LUNDQUIST THAT THE CERTIFICATE OF 
APPROPRIATENESS APPLICATION IS DEEMED COMPLETE. SECONDED 
BY GARY MASSANEK, APPROVED UNANIMOUSLY. 
 
MOTION BY CONNIE LUNDQUIST THAT THE BOARD APPROVE THE 
CERTIFICATE OF APPROPRIATENESS FOR THE REPLACEMENT OF 
ROOFING, SIDING, DOORS AND WINDOWS AT 32 SCHOOL STREET WITH 
THE FOLLOWING CONDITION: 
 

1. That the Board’s review and approval does hereby refer to these findings of 
fact, the plans and materials submitted by the applicant and the written and oral 
comments of the applicant, his representatives, reviewing officials, and members 
of the public as reflected in the public record. Any changes to the approved plan 
not called for in these conditions of approval or otherwise approved by the 
Director of Planning and Development as a minor modification, shall require 
further review 

 



Draft 2 

3 
 

SECONDED BY KAREN TOPP, APPROVED UNANIMOUSLY. 
2. Case # VRB 14-019 – 21 Town Hall Place – The Board will review and take action 
regarding a Certificate of Appropriateness for the construction of a new storage shed to 
replace the existing shed accessory to the Brunswick Central Fire Station located at 21 
Town Hall Place (Map U13, Lot 65A). 
 
Anna Breinich introduced the application and clarified that what the Village Review 
Board is approving is the construction of a new storage shed at 21 Town Hall Place, the 
demolition of the former shed did not come under review because it was not a 
contributing structure to an existing contributing structure and was exempt; the Fire 
House is a contributing structure.   Anna said the demolition permit for the shed has been 
issued.  Anna said that the replacement shed will have a gabled roof, stick built and 
smaller in size (19 x 32 to 16 x 16) and will have a single overhead door on the north side 
facing Central Station.  Anna said the she believes that it will be white vinyl siding with a 
fiberglass doors, steel overhead door and a silver metal galvanized roof. Emily Swan 
asked where the front edge would be located and Anna replied that she has asked the Fire 
Chief to place it as far back as possible but suggested that the Board make this a 
Condition of Approval to minimize the view and to gain a couple of parking spaces.  
Gary Massanek said that the proposed orientation will make the galvanized metal roof 
very prominent.  Anna replied that it was a matter of cost, but if desired the roof can be 
green.  Gary and Emily agreed that they would prefer the green.      
 
Chair Emily Swan opened the meeting to public comment. 
 
Jeff Morse, Pierce Photography owner and direct abutter, would like to be notified of 
the exact date of the demolition.  Jeff asked that the Town double check the property 
lines.  Jeff asked if there will be any issue with the tree at this location as it is situated on 
3 different properties and hangs down over the roof.  Jeff asked if they will be enclosing 
the area with a fence given that the structure would be smaller and Anna replied that she 
did not know for sure, but noted that they do not regulate fences in Brunswick.  Jeff said 
that they may want to look into this as the fence may be on another property. 
 
Chair Emily Swan closed the meeting to public comment. 
 
MOTION BY GARY MASSANEK THAT THE CERTIFICATE OF 
APPROPRIATENESS APPLICATION IS DEEMED COMPLETE. SECONDED 
BY KAREN TOPP, APPROVED UNANIMOUSLY. 
 
MOTION BY CONNIE LUNDQUIST THAT THE BOARD APPROVE THE 
CERTIFICATE OF APPROPRIATENESS FOR THE NEW CONSTRUCTION OF 
AN ACCESSORY SHED AT 21 TOWN HALL PLACE WITH THE FOLLOWING 
CONDITIONS: 

1. That the Board’s review and approval does hereby refer to these findings of fact, 
the plans and materials submitted by the applicant and the written and oral 
comments of the applicant, his representatives, reviewing officials, and members 
of the public as reflected in the public record.  Any changes to the approved plan 



Draft 2 

4 
 

not called for in these conditions of approval or otherwise approved by the 
Director of Planning and Development as a minor modification, shall require 
further review and approval in accordance with the Brunswick Zoning Ordinance.  

2. That the metal roofing be evergreen in color per the color samples provided, 
instead of the silver galvanized color as proposed by the applicant in order to 
reduce glare on abutting properties. 

 
MOTION SECONDED BY GARY MASSANEK, APPROVED UNANIMOUSLY. 
 
3. Case # VRB 14-022 – 103 Maine Street – The Board will review and take action 
regarding a Certificate of Appropriateness for the removal and replacement of building 
roofing material located at 103 Maine Street (Map U13, Lot 144). 
 
Anna Breinich introduced the application and said that this application may trigger 
additional review by the Board over the next few months. Anna said that there is a façade 
grant program that is available to business on Maine Street, administrated by the 
Brunswick Downtown Association and the applicant has recently won one of these 
reimbursement grants.  Anna said that the owner would like to redo the roof from asphalt 
to metal roofing which is prevalent throughout Brunswick. The applicant has provided 3 
different colors for the Board to review with the closest one in color to the existing roof 
being the medium bronze.  Anna said that in taking a look at the building, the bronze 
would probably be the closest and pointed out that the metal roof would only be on the 
main part of the structure and not the rear towards the parking lot. 
 
The applicant, Kimberly Elwell, said that she would like to keep the roof color as historic 
as possible. Kim said that part of the reason they are looking at the metal roof is that the 
north side is like a snow trap and this will allow for less maintenance and her husband 
having to go on the roof to clear it off.   
 
Chair Emily Swan opened the meeting to public comment. No comments were made and 
the public comment period was closed. 
 
Emily Swan and Gary Massanek both agreed that they liked that bronze, but that all the 
proposed colors were very similar.  Karen Topp said she would be happy with any of 
them.  
 
MOTION BY KAREN TOPP THAT THE CERTIFICATE OF 
APPROPRIATENESS APPLICATION IS DEEMED COMPLETE. SECONDED 
BY CONNIE LUNDQUIST, APPROVED UNANIMOUSLY. 
 
 
MOTION BY CONNIE LUNDQUIST THAT THE BOARD APPROVE THE 
CERTIFICATE OF APPROPRIATENESS FOR THE REPLACEMENT OF A 
SHINGLED ROOF WITH A METAL ROOF AT 103 MAINE STREET WITH 
THE FOLLOWING CONDITION: 



Draft 2 

5 
 

1. That the Board’s review and approval does hereby refer to these findings of fact, 
the plans and materials submitted by the applicant and the written and oral 
comments of the applicant, his representatives, reviewing officials, and members 
of the public as reflected in the public record. Any changes to the approved plan 
not called for in these conditions of approval or otherwise approved by the 
Director of Planning and Development as a minor modification, shall require 
further review and approval in accordance with the Brunswick Zoning Ordinance. 

MOTION SECONDED BY GARY MASSANEK, APPROVED UNANIMOUSLY. 
 
4. Case # VRB 14-023 – 36 School Street – The Board will review and take action 
regarding a Certificate of Appropriateness for the demolition and new construction of a 
2-car garage accessory to a residential structure located at 36 School Street (Map U08, 
Lot 27). 
 
Anna Breinich introduced the application and said that for this application the Village 
Review Board will be looking to issue a COA for the demolition of the garage and a 
separate Certificate of Appropriateness (COA) for the new construction of a garage.  
Anna said that as seen in the photographs provided, the garage is fairly dilapidated and 
the owner has decided to build a new garage in the exiting footprint. The new garage 
would be stick built, wood clapboard siding, white, with detail, green roof and as 
presented with one double wide overhead door. Anna said that the Design Guidelines ask 
that they avoid double width doors.  Anna has asked that in the conditions for approval, 
the double width overhead door be exclude and 2 single overhead door be used.     
 
Emily Swan referenced her garage door and provided photographs for viewing.  Emily 
said that sometimes she does not want to open both sides of her garage at the same time 
and wanted to provide another design for the applicant to consider. Connie Lundquist 
asked what material they were going to use for the garage and Brett Barrett, 
representative, replied that it would be fiberglass.  Emily asked if the applicant would be 
discouraged by staff’s recommendation for 2 single doors and Brett replied that he 
believed the applicant wished for one double width door so that she would have extra 
room getting into and out of the garage.  Karen Topp asked if the garage would be the 
same width from the street and Brett replied that it would be the same.   
 
Chair Emily Swan opened the meeting to public comment. 
 
John, resident of 35 School Street, said that he is very happy that the applicant has 
decided to make these changes and asked if the single doors versus the double width door 
is a factor in the size of the garage.  Brett replied, that it would not make a difference and 
would work.  John said that he likes the windows in the door.  Connie Lundquist asked 
what the size of the current doors are and Brett replied that they are not a standard size 
door and probably a little smaller.  Emily asked if there was a way to create the illusion 
of 2 doors without there being 2 doors. Gary Massanek said that it will be very tight with 
the 2 doors.  Gary asked if the owner planned on parking 2 cars in the garage and Brett 
replied that she would only be parking 1.  Gary asked if the door could be narrower.  
Brett replied that it would look as though you are trying to fit a short door in a large 



Draft 2 

6 
 

building and it would look awkward.  Karen Topp said that she would be ok with the 
double width as long as there were windows in the garage door.   
 
MOTION BY GARY MASSANEK THAT THE CERTIFICATE OF 
APPROPRIATENESS APPLICATION IS DEEMED COMPLETE. SECONDED 
BY CONNIE LUNDQUIST, APPROVED UNANIMOUSLY. 
MOTION BY GARY MASSANEK THAT THE BOARD APPROVES THE 
CERTIFICATE OF APPROPRIATENESS FOR THE DEMOLITION OF A 2-
CAR GARAGE 36 SCHOOL STREET WITH THE FOLLOWING CONDITION: 

1. That the Board’s review and approval does hereby refer to these findings of fact, 
the plans and materials submitted by the applicant and the written and oral 
comments of the applicant, his representatives, reviewing officials, and members 
of the public as reflected in the public record. Any changes to the approved plan 
not called for in these conditions of approval or otherwise approved by the 
Director of Planning and Development as a minor modification, shall require 
further review and approval in accordance with the Brunswick Zoning Ordinance. 

SECONDED BY KAREN TOPP, APPROVED UNANIMOUSLY. 
  
Karen Topp asked about the tree overhead and Brett Barrett replied that it will have to be 
trimmed back as the proposed structure would be slightly higher.   
 
MOTION BY CONNIE LUNDQUIST THAT THE BOARD APPROVES THE 
CERTIFICATE OF APPROPRIATENESS FOR THE NEW CONSTRUCTION OF 
A 2-CAR GARAGE AT 36 SCHOOL STREET WITH THE FOLLOWING 
CONDITIONS: 

1. That the Board’s review and approval does hereby refer to these findings of fact, 
the plans and materials submitted by the applicant and the written and oral 
comments of the applicant, his representatives, reviewing officials, and members 
of the public as reflected in the public record.  Any changes to the approved plan 
not called for in these conditions of approval or otherwise approved by the 
Director of Planning and Development as a minor modification, shall require 
further review and approval in accordance with the Brunswick Zoning 
Ordinance.   

2. That the selection of the double-width overhead garage door be subject to the 
approval of the Director of Planning and Development and per the Board’s 
request include windows and, if possible, be similar in style to that of a carriage 
house door. 

SECONDED BY GARY MASSANEK, APPROVED UNANIMOUSLY. 
 
5. Other Business 

 Anna Breinich updated the Board on the Zoning Ordinance rewrite progression to 
this point. 

 
6. Staff Approvals: 
35 Union St – Signage 



Draft 2 

7 
 

39 Union St – Window/Door Replacement 
135 Maine St – Signage 
 
Board members referenced 2016.8.B.1.a, Application Review Process in review of the 
Staff Approval of window/door replacement at 39 Union Street. 
 
7. Approval of Minutes 
MOTION BY EMILY SWAN TO APPROVE THE MINUTES OF JUNE 6, 2013, 
JULY 8, 2013 AND OCTOBER 13, 2013. SECONDED BY CONNIE LUNDQUIST, 
APPROVED UNANIMOUSLY AMONG THOSE PRESENT. 
 
MOTION BY GARY MASSANEK TO APPROVE THE MINUTES OF MARCH 3, 
2014. SECONDED BY KAREN TOPP, APPROVED UNANIMOUSLY. 
 
Adjourn 
This meeting was adjourned at 8:33. 
 
Attest: 
 
Tonya Jenusaitis 
Recording Secretary 



Draft 2 

VILLAGE REVIEW BOARD 
OCTOBER 21, 2014 

 
MEMBERS PRESENT:  Chair Emily Swan, Laura Lienert, Connie Lundquist, Gary 
Massanek and Karen Topp 
 
STAFF PRESENT:  Anna Breinich  
 
A meeting of the Village Review Board was held on Tuesday, October 21, 2014 at the 
Municipal Meeting Facility at 85 Union Street, Council Chambers. Chair Emily Swan 
called the meeting to order at 7:15 P.M. 
 
 
Case # VRB 14-033 – 6 Jordan Avenue – The Board will review and take action 
regarding a Certificate of Appropriateness to construct a mudroom addition off west side 
entrance to the residence and the installation of 2 skylights on cape roof facing street, 
located at 6 Jordan Avenue (Map U08, Lot 66). 
 
Anna Breinich introduced the application for new construction of a mudroom and a 
skylight installation on a Cape style home located at 6 Jordan Avenue.  Anna said that the 
mudroom would be using an existing doorway on the west side of structure.  Anna noted 
that the area of construction is narrow and that this would be new impervious surface.  
Anna passed around the materials being used in the new construction as provided to staff 
at the meeting for review.  Anna said that the proposed mudroom would be 5.6 sqft wide 
and 8 sqft long; will be of same color and materials as the house. 
 
Laura Lienert asked about the distance between the surrounding houses and Anna replied 
that the issue is going to come down to the impervious footprint which will be 
determined through the Codes Enforcement Office pending VRB approval.  Karen Topp 
asked the applicant why they chose the 45 skylight instead of the 53 size skylight. Corey 
Rattleff replied that the 53 wouldn’t fit.  Gary Massanek clarified that in construction of 
the mudroom, there will be a loss of one of the shutters on an existing window and asked 
if there was a possibility of moving the footprint 1 foot or so to avoid this.  Corey Rattleff 
replied that moving it will take away the bench that the applicants were going to install.  
Gary suggested that they pursue moving the mudroom room to avoid losing the shutter.  
Connie Lundquist asked for clarification on how the Board can approve an application 
that does not meet the ordinance.  Anna replied that Board is looking at the design 
review; if the application can’t move forward, the applicants can still install the skylights 
and what may not work is the impervious coverage.  Emily noted that the mudroom 
slopes back and asked if it is because of storage. Corey replied that it is where they are 
going to store the trash so it will be out of view.  Emily agreed with Gary on the shutter.  
Laura replied that it is located on the side of the house; Karen agreed and said that this is 
a nice design matching the slopes of the roof.  Connie likes the proposal and the bench.  
 
Chair Emily Swan opened the meeting to public comment.  Hearing none, the public 
comment period was closed. 



Draft 2 

 

MOTION BY GARY MASSANEK THAT THE CERTIFICATE OF 
APPROPRIATENESS APPLICATION IS DEEMED COMPLETE. SECONDED 
BY LAURA LIENERT, APPROVED UNANIMOUSLY. 

Laura Lienert asked if the applicant is replacing the front door as well. Corey Rattleff 
replied that the front door will remain as is.  Anna Breinich added that the door that is 
going on the addition will match the front door and will be a half light and not as depicted 
in the application materials. Corey added that it will be a 9 light and fiberglass; the front 
door is wood. Laura referred to section 216.9.B.1.c. of the Brunswick Zoning Ordinance 
which states that the material needs to be in kind.  Anna replied that the ordinance also 
allows for comparable material to which Laura replied it notes only when not available.  
Anna replied that in the past fiberglass has been acceptable.  Corey replied that they look 
the same and noted that the fiberglass will not rot out and is more energy efficient.  Gary 
Massanek pointed out that from the street you won’t be able to see the door and again 
suggested moving the mudroom back to avoid cutting off the shutter from the existing 
window.  Laura replied that there is nothing in the guidelines about preserving shutters. 
Emily said that as far as the door goes, she does not have an issue and Karen Topp 
agreed.  Laura suggested taking off the other shutter.   
 
MOTION BY GARY MASSANEK THAT THE BOARD APPROVES THE 
CERTIFICATE OF APPROPRIATENESS FOR THE CONSTRUCTION OF 
MUDROOM ADDITION AND INSTALLATION OF 2 ROOF SKYLIGHTS AT 6 
JORDAN AVENUE WITH THE FOLLOWING CONDITIONS:     

1. That the Board’s review and approval does hereby refer to these findings of 
fact, the plans and materials submitted by the applicant and the written and oral 
comments of the applicant, his representatives, reviewing officials, and members 
of the public as reflected in the public record.  Any changes to the approved plan 
not called for in these conditions of approval or otherwise approved by the 
Director of Planning and Development as a minor modification, shall require 
further review and approval in accordance with the Brunswick Zoning 
Ordinance.   

2. That the applicant shall redesign the mudroom extension to accommodate the 
adjacent existing window shutter.  

SECONDED BY KAREN TOPP AND APPROVED BY EMILY SWAN, CONNIE 
LUNDQUIST, GARY MASSANEK AND KAREN TOPP. MOTION OPPOSED BY 
LAURA LIENERT.  MOTION PASSES 4-1. 

 
 



Draft 2 

Case # VRB 14-038 – 38 Cumberland Street – The Board will review and take action 
regarding a Certificate of Appropriateness to install wrought iron railings on front steps 
of the residence located 38 Cumberland Street (Map U14, Lot 59).  
 
The applicant, Bernard Breibart, said that the railings are being added for safety and will 
be custom forged, black wrought iron railings. Emily Swan thanked the applicant for 
providing research into the range of railing styles on the street.  

MOTION BY GARY MASSANEK THAT THE CERTIFICATE OF 
APPROPRIATENESS APPLICATION IS DEEMED COMPLETE.  SECONDED 
BY KAREN TOPP, APPROVED UNANIMOUSLY. 

MOTION BY KAREN TOPP THAT THE BOARD APPROVES THE 
CERTIFICATE OF APPROPRIATENESS FOR THE INSTALLATION OF 
RAILINGS ON THE FRONT STEPS AT 38 CUMBERLAND STREET WITH 
THE FOLLOWING CONDITION:     

1. That the Board’s review and approval does hereby refer to these findings of 
fact, the plans and materials submitted by the applicant and the written and oral 
comments of the applicant, his representatives, reviewing officials, and members 
of the public as reflected in the public record.  Any changes to the approved plan 
not called for in these conditions of approval or otherwise approved by the 
Director of Planning and Development as a minor modification, shall require 
further review and approval in accordance with the Brunswick Zoning 
Ordinance.   

SECONDED BY LAURA LIENERT, APPROVED UNANIMOUSLY. 
 
Case # VRB 14-036 – 86 Maine Street – The Board will review and take action 
regarding a Certificate of Appropriateness to replace the front door and side lights on a 
building located at 86 Maine Street (Map U13, Lot 17).  
 
Anna Breinich introduced the application for a replacement of a wood to fiberglass 
doorway that is very similar in style.  Anna pointed out that it is not the original doorway.  
 
Karen Topp asked why the door is so short.  Bill Wilson, applicant representative, 
provided a brief history of the doorway and said the reason why the door is so short is 
because it was already in the building before the sidewalk was put in; to move it up is not 
possible as it would be major construction.  Bill said that after discussion with the owner, 
they want to replace the doorway the same way as it currently is.  Emily Swan asked 
about the material dividing the light in the door and Mr. Wilson replied that it would be 
grill work placed inside. Karen stated that she would prefer to see the side panels remain 
all light.  Emily replied that it is not really an issue for her.   
 
Chair Emily Swan opened the meeting to public comment.  Hearing none, the public 
comment period was closed. 



Draft 2 

 
Laura Lienert referenced the Village Review Design Guidelines and stated that they can 
match wood; the depth and dimension are important to her as a fiberglass door does not 
have these highs and lows.  Gary Massanek agreed with Laura as the public will be much 
more intimate with this door and would prefer discussing a wooden door.  Anna Breinich 
asked if the grills can be placed on the outside and Mr. Wilson replied that he does not 
know.  Mr. Wilson said that a fir door will be much more expensive then what is 
proposed.  Anna said that over time so much has changed in the doorway that she does 
not see a problem with what is being proposed.  Connie Lundquist is concerned about the 
clip on mullions and agrees with Laura on the design guidelines.  Discussion between 
Emily and Laura over the materials of the door, what makes sense to have now and what 
is acceptable.  Connie clarified that they are replacing the entire door unit and Mr. Wilson 
replied that over time the unit has become compromised and that it would be almost 
impossible to fit a new door in the opening. Even if they replaced just the door, you 
would still have a new door in an old opening.  Laura reiterated provisions in the 
ordinance and Emily reiterated that this is not the original door.   Connie replied that she 
has never seen a non-wood door that looks like a wood door and as a result without the 
wood they won’t have the window mountings. Emily replied that to get hung up on the 
wood door look on a heavily altered building is making it harder to find a door that 
works.  Karen asked if there is funding through the BDA and Anna replied that it is a 
matching program.  Bill  pointed out that the grant does not pay for architectural fees.  
Mr. Wilson asked if it were a true door with lights and insulated glass would they accept, 
members replied that they believed so. 

MOTION BY GARY MASSANEK THAT THE CERTIFICATE OF 
APPROPRIATENESS APPLICATION IS DEEMED COMPLETE.  SECONDED 
BY KAREN TOPP, APPROVED UNANIMOUSLY. 

MOTION BY CONNIE LUNDQUIST THAT THE BOARD APPROVES THE 
CERTIFICATE OF APPROPRIATENESS FOR THE REPLACEMENT OF A 
DETERIORATED WOODEN ENTRYWAY (COMBINATION DOOR AND SIDE 
LIGHTS) WITH A FIBERGLASS ENTRYWAY OF SIMILAR STYLE 
LOCATED AT 86 MAINE STREET WITH THE FOLLOWING CONDITION:    
 

1. That the Board’s review and approval does hereby refer to these 
findings of fact, the plans and materials submitted by the applicant and 
the written and oral comments of the applicant, his representatives, 
reviewing officials, and members of the public as reflected in the 
public record.  Any changes to the approved plan not called for in 
these conditions of approval or otherwise approved by the Director of 
Planning and Development as a minor modification, shall require 
further review and approval in accordance with the Brunswick Zoning 
Ordinance. 

 



Draft 2 

2. That the applicant shall substitute an entryway made of wood and 
glass instead of fiberglass/glass, with true window divides and raised 
panels, keeping same configuration as that proposed in application.   

 
SECONDED BY GARY MASSANEK, APPROVED UNANIMOUSLY. 
 
Case # VRB 14-037 – 92 Maine Street – The Board will review and take action 
regarding a Certificate of Appropriateness to install a window and relocate the existing 
window on the first floor on the Lincoln Building, along with other minor improvements, 
located at 92 Maine Street (Map U13, Lot 40).  
 
Anna Breinich stated that this application started out as an application for in house 
review, but that the owner came back with additional changes and decided to move 
forward at this time.   Anna said that this application is mainly for façade improvements 
and maintenance and replacement of the second floor windows; these changes will be an 
enhancement to the building.   
 
The applicant, Bill , said this application is for quite a bit of maintenance work that is 
going to be done and said that in addition, he proposes to extend the dentil work that is on 
the Nest and bring it across.  Connie Lundquist asked if the signs will move down 
because of the extension of the dentil work and Mr. Moore replied only if the signs are 
above the dental work.  Karen Topp asked if he will be placing new windows where there 
is currently brick and Mr.  replied that he is not.  Emily Swan asked what type of 
windows are currently on the building and what they plan to replace them with.  Mr. 
Moore replied that they are currently wood with aluminum storm windows and he is 
proposing to replace them with vinyl.  Mr. Moore said that they are very thin with no 
mountings and that the bottom sash is twice as big as the top with no sash.  Mr. Moore 
said that he has spoken with the window man and they believe that they can recreate the 
same window.  Laura Lienert asked if any efforts were made to maintain or preserve the 
wood windows.  Mr. Moore replied that they tried to preserve the trim but not the sash 
and that wood windows would extremely expensive not feasible; he just wouldn’t replace 
them. Emily asked exactly what windows are being replaced and Mr. Moore replied that 
he is replacing the 20 windows on the second floor on the front and side. Connie asked 
about the back windows and Mr. Moore replied that he would like to at some point.  
Laura asked if there is a mix of windows and Mr. Moore replied that the storm windows 
get stuck sometimes so it looks like they are different.  Anna suggested that members 
look at the 1910 pictures as it is clear that the windows were straight dividers.  Connie 
asked if they can require that all signs be level with the Nest and Anna replied that the 
issue could be with Aki as they would be the only ones with a sign remaining. Emily 
replied that they should all be in line per the BDA proposal.   
 
Chair Emily Swan opened the meeting to public comment.  Hearing none, the public 
comment period was closed. 
 
Emily Swan said that she is ok with the vinyl if they are preserving the trim and that 
overall, the maintenance will be an improvement.  Laura Lienert pointed out that the 



Draft 2 

Design Guidelines emphasize working with the applicant, but the biggest thing is that it 
says alternative materials should only be used as a last resort and she does not see this as 
a last resort but does recognize that the windows are high up on the second floor.   Karen 
Topp replied that given the scale and cost of replacing 20 windows, this could be a last 
resort. Laura replied that she didn’t want to discuss costs as it is not their burden to which 
Connie replied that a last resort may include cost.  Laura reviewed the options. Emily 
noted that they need to apply the ordinance in a flexible manner and that she would rather 
not have vinyl, but that the Board has to find a balance.  Mr. Moore added that the 
windows are not part of the grant through the BDA at this time and that the current 
windows are very drafty and unsafe.   
 
Connie Lundquist recused herself from voting as she has a studio in the building. 
 
MOTION BY KAREN TOPP THAT THE CERTIFICATE OF 
APPROPRIATENESS APPLICATION IS DEEMED COMPLETE. SECONDED 
BY LAURA LIENERT, APPROVED UNANIMOUSLY AMONG THOSE 
VOTING. 
 
MOTION BY LAURA LIENERT THAT THE BOARD APPROVES THE 
CERTIFICATE OF APPROPRIATENESS TO COMPLETE FAÇADE 
IMPROVEMENTS, RELOCATE TWO WINDOWS ON THE FIRST FLOOR OF 
THE STRUCTURE AND REPLACE SECOND FLOOR WINDOWS WITH 
VINYL CLAD REPLACEMENTS AT 90-102 MAINE STREET (LINCOLN 
BUILDING) WITH THE FOLLOWING CONDITION:    
 

1. That the Board’s review and approval does hereby refer to these 
findings of fact, the plans and materials submitted by the applicant and 
the written and oral comments of the applicant, his representatives, 
reviewing officials, and members of the public as reflected in the 
public record.  Any changes to the approved plan not called for in 
these conditions of approval or otherwise approved by the Director of 
Planning and Development as a minor modification, shall require 
further review and approval in accordance with the Brunswick Zoning 
Ordinance.  

 
SECONDED BY KAREN TOPP, APPROVED UNANIMOUSLY AMONG THOSE 
VOTING. 
 
Connie Lundquist returned as a voting member to the meeting. 
 
Public Draft Zoning Ordinance Update/Joint Meeting with ZORC Proposal 
A workshop will be held prior to the 11/18/14 meeting to discuss changes for Section 216 
of the Brunswick Zoning Ordinance.       
 
Other Business: No other business. 
 



Draft 2 

Staff Approvals: 
29 Union St – Renovations 
134/136 Maine St – Signage 
6 Jordan Ave – Rear Dormer 
29 Cumberland St – Garage demolition 
15 High St – Garage demolition 
 
Approval of Minutes 
 
MOTION BY GARY MASSANEK TO APPROVE THE MINUTES OF JUNE 17, 
2014. SECONDED BY KAREN TOP, APPROVED UNANIMOUSLY.  
 
Adjourn 
This meeting was adjourned at 9:02. 
 
Attest: 
 
Tonya Jenusaitis 
Recording Secretary 



Draft 1 

1 
 

VILLAGE REVIEW BOARD 
JANUARY 22, 2015 

 
MEMBERS PRESENT:  Chair Emily Swan, Connie Lundquist, Gary Massanek and 
Brooks Stoddard 
 
STAFF PRESENT:  Jeremy Doxsee  
 
A meeting of the Village Review Board was held on Thursday, January 22, 2015 at the 
Municipal Meeting Facility at 85 Union Street, Council Chambers. Chair Emily Swan 
called the meeting to order at 6:30 P.M. 
 
Case # VRB 14-044 – 29 School Street – The Board will review and take action 
regarding a Certificate of Appropriateness to make renovations to the residence visible 
from the street and replace existing storage space with a detached shed to the rear of the 
property, located at 29 School Street (Map U08, Lot 19B). 
 
Jeremy Doxsee introduced the application and said that the existing side doors allow cold 
air entry especially during the winter months.  The applicant is proposing to construct air 
lock entry for 3 the existing side doors by enclosing a portion of the porch area and 
constructing a new ramp and stairway to better meet her needs at this time.   
 
The applicant, Ms. Rothsudottir, added that she also plans to replace the existing storage 
with one tall enough for bicycles. Ms. Rothsudottir clarified that the ramp would go 
behind the shrubbery near the side steps.  
 
Jeremy Doxsee pointed out that although the agenda lists replacing existing storage space 
with a detached shed to the rear of the property, this was removed as it will not be visible.  
 
Karen Topp asked for clarification on the steps and Ms. Rothsudottir replied that she 
would like the steps to be covered from the elements.  Ms. Rothsudottir said that there 
will be two concrete steps not covered by the porch that she wants matched in height and 
depth as the wood steps. Emily Swan clarified that they are shortening the porch deck to 
bring some of the steps under the cover. Connie Lundquist asked if she planned on 
replacing all the wood steps and Ms. Rothsudottir replied that she is and would like the 
new steps to be made out of wood composite. Karen said that her only concern was that 
in walking that neighborhood, it is nice to have that porch entryway before the door and 
that between the stairs coming up part way and then the air lock coming to meet it, there 
is very little flat porch.  Ms. Rothsudottir replied that there will be 5 feet and stated that 
the porch was not there originally, but was built by the previous owner who cut out part 
of the column that comes down.  Ms. Rothsudottir said that the column will be replaced 
and be free standing as it was originally.  
 
Chair Emily Swan opened the public hearing. Hearing none, the public hearing was 
closed.  
 



Draft 1 

2 
 

MOTION BY GARY MASSANEK THAT THE CERTIFICATE OF 
APPROPRIATENESS APPLICATION IS DEEMED COMPLETE.  SECONDED 
BY CONNIE LUNDQUIST, APPROVED UNANIMOUSLY. 
 
MOTION BY CONNIE LUNDQUIST THAT THE BOARD APPROVED THE 
CERTIFICATE OF APPROPRIATENESS FOR NEW CONSTRUCTION OF 3 
AIR LOCK ENTRIES AND RELATED IMPROVEMENTS WITH THE 
FOLLOWING CONDITION: 
 

1. That the Board’s review and approval does hereby refer to these findings of 
fact, the plans and materials submitted by the applicant and the written and oral 
comments of the applicant, his representatives, reviewing officials, and members 
of the public as reflected in the public record. Any changes to the approved plan 
not called for in these conditions of approval or otherwise approved by the 
Director of Planning and Development as a minor modification, shall require 
further review and approval in accordance with the Brunswick Zoning Ordinance. 

 
SECONDED BY GARY MASSANEK, APPROVED UNANIMOUSLY.  

 
Case # VRB 15-001 – 22 Lincoln Street – The Board will review and take action 
regarding a Certificate of Appropriateness to make renovations to the building and 
replace existing sign, located at 22 Lincoln Street (Map U13, Lot 8). 
 
Jeremy Doxsee introduced the application and said that there are 2 existing chimneys in 
the property that will no longer be needed as the applicant wishes to install a high 
efficiency boiler with the use of side vents. The applicant wishes to remove the chimneys 
to minimize any potential leaking in the roof as well as maximizing useable interior floor 
area.  Jeremy noted that when on Lincoln Street, the chimneys are not easily seen, but can 
be seen better when on Union Street.  Jeremy said that the applicant also wishes to 
replace 22 wood framed windows with vinyl-clad replacements. The size of the window 
openings will not change and the trim proposed will be to match the existing house and 
the windows are proposed to have window muntins to mimic the wood windows with the 
difference in the muntins being that they would be inside the glazing.    
 
The applicant, John Shields added that they also plan to enclose the basement windows 
which are hard to see and that they also have a sign application.  Gary Massanek asked 
the applicant if he is planning to change the color scheme as the colors indicated on the 
plan are ivory and not green.  Mr. Shields replied that when you look at the shutters up 
close, they are a blue-green as are the storm windows and he is proposing to remove the 
storm windows. In removing the storm windows, what is left is the original trim which is 
a beigeish color that will be untouched with the window replacements and this is what 
they are trying to meld with the window frame. Connie Lundquist asked if the existing 
windows have muntins that go all the way through and Mr. Shields replied that the single 
pane are divided.  Connie asked if the applicant had considered simulated divided light 
and the applicant replied that it is a budget concern as.  Emily Swan pointed out that the 
windows being prosed can sometimes look like empty eyes in a building as opposed to 



Draft 1 

3 
 

the shadow effect.  Emily and Connie discussed the glare that will be seen in the glass; 
you won’t be able to see the muntins and Connie asked that the applicant reconsider the 
simulated light windows.  Mr. Shields replied that they have considered that type of 
window but noted that similar windows as he is proposing occur up and down Lincoln 
Street.  Emily agreed with Mr. Shields, but stated that they distract and takes away 
character from the building. Karen Topp asked if the applicant had considered the 
insertable grill that goes on the inside that still allows for the 3 dimensional look as this is 
what she has and Mr. Shields replied that the owner does not want to be treated 
differently than his neighbors and that the owner wants the building to look good and be 
efficient while still meeting a budget.  Jeremy Doxsee asked Mr. Shields if he knew what 
the cost difference was for internal muntins versus exterior muntins and the contractor, 
Stephen Kaltonic replied that the muntins found on the other houses on Lincoln Street are 
not as detailed as the muntins inside the glass and that he hasn’t experienced the 
emptiness that the Board members have.  Emily clarified that in the front they are doing 
one over one, in the smaller windows it is just single pane and asked why the window on 
the east side elevation is just one big window.  Mr. Shields replied that this window is a 
blind window and right now there is just siding.   
 
Chair Emily Swan opened the meeting to public hearing.   
 
John Perreault, Town Councilor District 4, pointed out that Karen Topp’s windows are on 
the back of her house so there is no review. Mr. Perreault said that as he understands, but 
that he does not think that this Board can take issue with any decisions / alterations that 
were made in the past that the VRB was not involved pertaining to the other windows up 
and down the street and that it would be unfair for the Board to take issue with the 
applicant wanting to be treated the same as his neighbors.   
 
Chair Emily Swan closed the public comment period. 
 
In reply to Councilor Perrault’s comments, Emily Swan stated that this is a conundrum 
and she understands, but on the other hand the VRB raised a similar issue regarding the 
application for a new door recently.  Gary Massanek said that if they could get the 
exterior application on the window then the integrity of the windows could be 
maintained.  Mr. Shields clarified that the VRB is proposing exterior muntions on both 
side of the glass.  Mr. Shields said that they can provide an example of a window with 
and exterior and interior grill. Mr. Kaltonic replied that they would be fine with this 
change. 
            

MOTION BY BROOKS STODDARD THAT THE CERTIFICATE OF 
APPROPRIATENESS APPLICATION IS DEEMED COMPLETE. SECONDED 
BY KAREN TOPP, APPROVED UNANIMOUSLY.  

MOTION BY GARY MASSANEK THAT THE BOARD APPROVES THE 
CERTIFICATE OF APPROPRIATENESS FOR BUILDING RENOVATIONS, 



Draft 1 

4 
 

REMOVAL OF CHIMNEYS AND SIGN REPLACEMENT WITH THE 
FOLLOWING CONDITION:  

1. That the Board’s review and approval does hereby refer to these findings of 
fact, the plans and materials submitted by the applicant and the written and oral 
comments of the applicant, his representatives, reviewing officials, and members 
of the public as reflected in the public record.  Any changes to the approved plan 
not called for in these conditions of approval or otherwise approved by the 
Director of Planning and Development as a minor modification, shall require 
further review and approval in accordance with the Brunswick Zoning 
Ordinance.   

2. The applicant shall use replacement windows with matching applied exterior 
muntins with a profile, subject to final approval from the Director of Planning and 
Development.  

MOTION SECONDED BY CONNIE LUNDQUIST, APPROVED 
UNANIMOUSLY.  
 
Case # VRB 15-002 – 24 Oak Street – The Board will review and take action regarding 
a Certificate of Appropriateness to replace siding, windows and doors on existing 
detached barn and install new windows on the back side of residence, located at 24 Oak 
Street (Map U14, Lot 97). 
 
Jeremy Doxsee introduced the application and said that this application was originally to 
replace the window not visible on the north side of the building to allow for more natural 
light and allow for better view of the river.  The applicant wants to remove one window 
and install 2 windows but based on the criteria this would only need approval from the 
staff and so it has been removed.  Tonight, the applicant is proposing to replace the 
existing barn siding with #2, 10x10 vertical shiplap siding; a color has not been 
determined yet.  Jeremy said that the existing barn windows are just screwed in storm 
windows and the applicant is proposing to put in vinyl replacement windows.  The 
applicant will be removing the 1st floor west side window and adding an additional 
window on the east side of the barn.   
 
Emily Swan clarified that the south side is the only visible side. Connie Lundquist asked 
Jeremy Doxsee why the applicant chose the vertical siding instead of the horizontal and 
Jeremy replied that it was a personal choice and he felt it looked moor barn like.  Connie 
pointed out that in the proposed replacement window picture provided by the applicant, 
the drawing looks like double hung 2 over 2 and the abbreviated quote says no grill and 
she is not sure how that can be achieved.  Jeremy stated that he believes that the VRB 
would be approving the architectural design.   Jeremy said that per the applicant, the most 
important thing at this time is doing the back windows and that this would be a summer 
project and could be deferred if the Board needed more information.  Emily said she 
would prefer to table as they do not have any idea on what the doors are going to look 



Draft 1 

5 
 

like and Karen Toppp agreed and said that she would prefer more information / 
clarification on the windows.   
 
MOTION BY GARY MASSANEK TO TABLE APPLICATION 15-002 UNTIL 
MORE INFORMATION CAN BE OBTAINED.  SECONDED BY KAREN TOPP, 
TABLE APPROVED UNANIMOUSLY. 
 
Case # VRB 15-003 – 77 Pleasant Street – The Board will review and take action 
regarding a Certificate of Appropriateness to replace existing 3rd floor fire escape on west 
side of structure, located at 77 Pleasant Street (Map U15, Lot 72). 
 
Jeremy Doxsee introduced the application and said that the applicant is proposing to 
remove the existing 3rd floor window fire escape and replace it with a new fire escape and 
add an additional landing on the first floor building roof for safer egress in an emergency.   
 
Owner  and applicant, David Gulick said that after speaking with the Deputy Fire Chief, 
the upper deck meets the code to get someone out of a smoke column but that the escape 
it does not seem sensible to him as the deck is so small.  Mr. Gulick said that the purpose 
of this proposal is to allow the means for the tenant to get down to a lower level and for 
the escape to be a safer place to wait for rescue.    
 
Gary Massanek asked if the aluminum ladder has to be enclosed.  John Perreault, 
Contractor replied that after speaking with Carl Adams of Codes Enforcement, and 
Deputy Fire Chief Jeff Emerson, they did not see any issues with this and added that the 
applicant is improving the situation.    Emily Swan asked Mr. Perreault to explain the 
ladder.  Emily clarified that the applicant is proposing to make the lower deck and railing 
similar in fashon to what is on the front porch.  Mr. Pereault added that he can either 
paint the aluminum ladder or make a wood ladder.  Karen Topp asked how well paint 
sticks to aluminum and Mr. Perreault replied that there is special primer and paint that is 
involved and added that they plan to use pressure treated wood with composite railings.   
 
MOTION BY BROOKS STODDARD THAT THE CERTIFICATE OF 
APPROPRIATENESS APPLICATION IS DEEMED COMPLETE.  SECONDED 
BY KAREN TOPP, APPROVED UNANIMOUSLY. 

  

MOTION BY CONNIE LUNDQUIST THAT THE BOARD APPROVES THE 
CERTIFICATE OF APPROPRIATENESS FOR THE REPLACEMENT OF A 3RD 
FLOOR FIRE ESCAPE AND RELATED IMPROVEMENTS WITH THE 
FOLLOWING CONDITION:  

  

1. That the Board’s review and approval does hereby refer to these findings of fact, 
the plans and materials submitted by the applicant and the written and oral 
comments of the applicant, his representatives, reviewing officials, and members 
of the public as reflected in the public record.  Any changes to the approved plan 
not called for in these conditions of approval or otherwise approved by the 
Director of Planning and Development as a minor modification, shall require 



Draft 1 

6 
 

further review and approval in accordance with the Brunswick Zoning 
Ordinance.   

SECONDED BY KAREN TOPP, APPROVED UNANIMOUSLY. 
 
Other Business:  Decisions to go with Connie Lundquist’s email of questions that the 
VRB has regarding the Zoning Ordinance Rewrite. 
 
Staff Approvals: 

 8 Mason St - Signage 
 
Approval of Minutes 
 
MOTION BY GARY MASSANEK TO APPROVE THE MINUTES OF AUGUST 
19, 2014. SECONDED BY KAREN TOPP, APPROVED UNANIMOUSLY.  
 
Adjourn 
This meeting was adjourned at 8:23. 
 
Attest: 
 
Tonya Jenusaitis 
Recording Secretary 


	vrb agenda 2 17 15
	stowe house app_20150213101025
	tao app_20150213100807
	VRB 7 15 14 Draft2
	VRB 10 21 14 Draft2



